RECEIVED
Jul 27 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
Hon. William C. McMaster, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2025-CP-23-03365
Appellate Case No. 2025-002385

AJC-101 Holdings, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Greenville County Planning Commission Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
Miles E. Coleman
Mayme Medlock
2 W. Washington Street / Fourth Floor
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 373-2352

BURKE LAW, LLC
Luke A. Burke
819 E. North Street (29601)
P.O. Box 4885 (29603)
Greenville, South Carolina
(864) 735-8289

Attorneys for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from the denial of an application for a subdivision development plan. The property owner and developer—AJC-101 Holdings, LLC (“AJC-101”)—applied for a preliminary plat. The Greenville County Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 23, 2025, and voted 3-to-5 against the application. A week later, county staff sent a letter to AJC-101’s agent notifying her the application had been denied and stating that an appeal of the denial “must be made within thirty (30) days from the date of this letter.” AJC-101 appealed 28 days later. Nevertheless, the Planning Commission argued to the circuit court that the appeal was untimely because AJC-101 had “actual notice” on April 23 of the Commission’s vote and thus (in the Commission’s view) should have filed its appeal within 30 days of *that* date. The circuit court agreed and, rather than dismissing the appeal, affirmed the denial of AJC-101’s application. This Court should reverse for multiple reasons.

First, the circuit court’s ruling is contrary to the text and meaning of the statute containing the relevant appeal deadline. When S.C. Code § 6-29-1150 is read as a whole, the intent of the General Assembly is clear: written notice is necessary to notify the applicant of the approval or disapproval of a preliminary plan. That conclusion finds support in well-established canons of interpretation and analogous cases. While our Supreme Court has not previously interpreted this Code section, it has, in analogous cases interpreting statutory appeal deadlines from administrative decisions, concluded that “notice” of a decision means written notice. The circuit court’s contrary ruling failed to harmonize the statutory subsections and would yield chaotic, inconsistent results.

Second, the circuit court’s ruling is contrary to this Court’s precedent interpreting this same statute. Just six years ago, in a case against the Greenville County Planning Commission, the Court held that the deadline for an interested party to appeal from a decision of the Planning Commission

was 30 days after “*receiving*” notice from the county, and that this deadline (the same deadline and statutory subsection at issue in this appeal) was “*more liberal*” than the alternative deadline under which a property owner can file a combined appeal and request for mediation within 30 days “after the decision of the Board is mailed.” *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm’n*, 426 S.C. 97, 106–07, 825 S.E.2d 721, 726 (Ct. App. 2019). The ruling in that case can’t be squared with the circuit court’s ruling in this case. The Court should reverse.

Third, the circuit court erred by failing to recognize that the Planning Commission’s vote at the April 23, 2025 meeting *recommended* action but did not render a final, appealable decision. That’s because Greenville County has not delegated that decision-making authority to the Planning Commission. Not until county staff sent a letter notifying AJC-101’s agent of the decision did AJC-101 receive actual notice of an appealable decision. The appeal filed 28 days later was timely.

Fourth, even setting aside the statutory text and precedent, the circuit court’s ruling should be reversed because the county, having told AJC-101 that it had 30 days from the date of the letter to appeal, should be equitably estopped from arguing on appeal that a different, earlier deadline should apply.

Finally, with the timing issue out of the way, the circuit court should have ruled for AJC-101 on the merits or, alternatively, concluded that the Planning Commission’s and County’s reasonless denial of the application violates the takings clause of the South Carolina Constitution by effectively depriving AJC-101 of its legally cognizable right in the property. The Court should reverse and remand with instructions to reverse the denial of the application or, alternatively, to determine damages for the improper taking.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in concluding that AJC-101's appeal was untimely?
- II. Did the trial court err in affirming the denial of AJC-101's application for a preliminary subdivision plat or, alternatively, by failing to determine appropriate damages for a taking of the property?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant AJC Holdings-101, LLC ("AJC-101") filed its Notice of Appeal and Petition from the denial of its Preliminary Subdivision Application on May 28, 2025, in the Court of Common Pleas for the Thirteenth Judicial District. *See* Notice of Appeal & Petition (R. pp. 11 to 15). The Honorable William C. McMaster, III heard arguments on September 17, 2025, and affirmed the denial of the application on September 26, 2025, because, in the court's view, AJC-101's appeal was untimely. *See* Order of Sep. 26 (R. p. 1). AJC-101 filed a motion for reconsideration on October 6, 2025 (R. p. 121), which was denied on October 30, 2025 (R. p. 4). The October 30 Order was subsequently rescinded to correct a scrivener's error, and the court issued another order on November 5, 2025 also denying AJC-101's motion for reconsideration. (R. p. 7). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

AJC-101 is the owner of real property located in Greenville County, identified as Tax Map Numbers 0601020100802, 0409000100113, and 0601020100901 (collectively, the "Property"). Notice of Appeal & Petition p. 1 (R. p. 11). The property, which is zoned as Residential Suburban ("RS"), is already subdivided and developed into the O'Neal Farms subdivision. *See* Preliminary Subdivision Data Sheet (R. p. 42). On February 19, 2025, AJC-101 filed an application for approval of a preliminary plan to develop Phase II of O'Neal Farms. *Id.* (R. p. 42). The application was submitted as an Open Space Residential Development (Option #1) pursuant to the Greenville County Zoning Ordinance ("GCZO") and assigned Subdivision File Number PP-2025-029 (the

“Application”). *Id.* (R. p. 42); Preliminary Plat (R. pp. 31 to 34); Greenville County Planning Commission Meeting Minutes for April 23, 2025 (“April 23 Meeting Minutes”), p. 9 (R. p. 65); Greenville County Zoning Ordinances (“GCZO”) § 7:2. (R. pp. 88 to 92). The Application requested approval for a preliminary plat consisting of 92.82 acres, and AJC-101 requested to build 147 lots on this acreage for a density of 1.58 lots per acre. Preliminary Subdivision Data Sheet (R. p. 42); April 23 Meeting Minutes, p. 9 (R. p. 65).

On April 23, 2025, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on the Application. April 23 Meeting Minutes, pp. 9–11 (R. pp. 65 to 67). Despite County Staff recommending the Application be approved with minor conditions, the Planning Commission voted 3-to-5 against the Application. *Id.* (R. pp. 65 to 67). The Planning Commission did not provide a reason for its denial during the public hearing. *Id.* (R. pp. 65 to 67).

During the meeting, two members of the Planning Commission expressed concerns about traffic from AJC-101’s intended development, despite no provision of the Land Development Regulations permitting such considerations beyond requiring applicants to complete a traffic study, which AJC-101 did. *Id.* at p. 10 (R. p. 66); Traffic Impact Study (R. pp. 43 to 56). Two other members of the Planning Commission acknowledged that the Commission is not responsible for enforcing requirements regarding traffic improvements. April 23 Meeting Minutes, pp. 10–11 (R. pp. 66 to 67). County staff stated they had reviewed the Application and did not request any additional traffic calming measures. *Id.* at p. 10 (R. p. 66). Another member of the Planning Commission asked if the open space had any meaningful proportions. *Id.* at p. 11 (R. p. 67). This was presumably a reference to GCZO § 7:2.4–6 (“Land dedicated as open space shall be of meaningful proportions and dimensions so as to be consistent with the purpose and intent of this section. The open space shall be contiguous to the extent practicable.”). GCZO §§ 7:2.4-6. (R. p.

90). AJC-101’s Application complied with the proportions specifically defined in Table 7.2 of the GCZO. GCZO Table 7.2. (R. p. 92); Preliminary Plat (R. pp. 31 to 34). The Application also complied with the requirement that residents have sufficient access to open space. Greenville County Land Development Regulations (“LDR”) § 11.4 (R. p. 82); Preliminary Plat (R. pp. 31 to 34). No other statements about the Application’s compliance with the zoning ordinance or Land Development Regulations were voiced by members of the Planning Commission. April 23 Meeting Minutes, pp. 10–11 (R. 66 to 67).

One week after the hearing, the Subdivision Administrator, an employee of Greenville County, sent a letter to AJC-101’s engineer, notifying her of the denial. Subdivision Administrator’s Letter of April 30, 2025 (R. p. 74). Again, this letter did not include a reason for denial. *Id.* (R. p. 74). The letter stated that an appeal of the denial “must be made *within thirty (30) days from the date of this letter* in accordance with Section 6-29-1155 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.” *Id.* (R. p. 74) (emphasis added).

Twenty-eight days after the date of that letter, on May 28, 2025, AJC-101 filed its Notice of Appeal and Petition with the Court of Common Pleas for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, seeking review of the denial of AJC-101’s Application. *See* Notice of Appeal & Petition (R. pp. 11 to 15).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Statutory interpretation. “An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.” *Lightner v. Hampton Hall Club, Inc.*, 419 S.C. 357, 363, 798 S.E.2d 555, 558 (2017) (quoting *Univ. of S. Cal. v. Moran*, 365 S.C. 270, 274, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005)). The Court reviews questions of law *de novo*. *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009).

Equitable estoppel. “[E]stoppel is an equitable doctrine, essentially flexible, and therefore to be applied or denied as equities between the parties may preponderate.” *Pitts v. N.Y. Life Ins.*

Co., 247 S.C. 545, 552, 148 S.E.2d 369, 372 (1966). In equitable actions, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010).

Merits. A planning commission’s decision “will not be upheld where it is based on errors of law, where there is no legal evidence to support it, where the [commission] acts arbitrarily or unreasonably, or where, in general, the [commission] has abused its discretion.” *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Commission*, 376 S.C. 165, 173-74, 656 S.E.2d 346, 351 (2008) (applying zoning board standards to a planning commission decision) (citing *Peterson Outdoor Advertising v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 327 S.C. 230, 235, 489 S.E.2d 630, 633 (1997)).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court’s ruling was contrary to the text of S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150.

The sole reason given by the trial court for affirming the denial of AJC-101’s Application is that, in the court’s view, AJC-101’s appeal of the decision was untimely. *See* Order of Sep. 26, p. 1 (R. p. 1). The court cited S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150, which reads in relevant part:

(D)(1) An appeal from the decision of the planning commission must be taken to the circuit court **within thirty days after actual notice** of the decision.

(2) A property owner whose land is the subject of a decision of the planning commission may appeal by filing a notice of appeal with the circuit court accompanied by a request for pre-litigation mediation in accordance with Section 6-29-1155.

A notice of appeal and request for pre-litigation mediation must be filed **within thirty days after the decision of the board is mailed**.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(D) (emphasis added); Order of Sep. 26, p. 1 (R. p. 1). In applying this statute, the circuit court reasoned that, under subsection -1150(D)(1), AJC-101 “had actual notice” of the Planning Commission’s vote on April 23, 2025, but waited until “35 days later” to file its appeal. Order of Sep. 26, p. 1 (R. p. 1). The court thus concluded the appeal was untimely

and it was unnecessary to evaluate or rule on the merits of AJC-101's arguments. *See id.* (R. p. 1).

That interpretation, however, is contrary to the text and context of the statute and differs from the way in which our Supreme Court has interpreted analogous statutes. The text of Section 6-29-1150 and the structure of the surrounding statutory scheme indicate that the legislature's intent was not for an interested party to be deemed to have "actual notice" of a county's land-use decision merely by attending a planning commission meeting. When read in harmony with the entire scheme, Section 6-29-1150(D)(1) requires some greater degree of notice, such as a written notification of the planning commission's vote and/or the final decision on an application. Had the legislature intended for notice to coincide with the decision itself, the legislature easily could have written the statute in that way. The trial court's interpretation of the statute violated the legislature's intent and, thus, was in error.

A. The trial court's interpretation is contrary to established principles of statutory interpretation.

"Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which [appellate courts] are free to decide without any deference to the court below." *City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 152, 705 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2011). The court's primary function in interpreting a statute is to determine and give effect to the intent of the General Assembly. *Joiner v. Rivas*, 342 S.C. 102, 108, 536 S.E.2d 372, 375 (2000); *Smith v. South Carolina Ins. Co.*, 350 S.C. 82, 87, 564 S.E.2d 358, 361 (Ct. App. 2002). The language must be read to harmonize with its subject matter and in accord with its general purpose. *Jones v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 364 S.C. 222, 230, 612 S.E.2d 719, 723 (2005). "[C]ivil procedure and appellate court rules should not be . . . interpreted to create a trap for the unwary lawyer" *Swing v. Swing*, 445 S.C. 340, 345, 914 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2025) (quoting *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 25, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004)).

Courts will reject statutory interpretations that lead to results so plainly absurd they could not have been intended by the legislature or that defeat the plain legislative intention. *Jones*, 364 S.C. at 232, 612 S.E.2d at 724 (citations omitted). A court should not consider a particular clause in a statute in isolation, but should read it in conjunction with the purpose of the entire statute and the policy of the law. *Hinton v. South Carolina Dep’t of Prob., Parole, and Pardon Servs.*, 357 S.C. 327, 333, 592 S.E.2d 335, 338 (Ct. App. 2004); *Doe v. Roe*, 353 S.C. 576, 580, 578 S.E.2d 733, 735–36 (Ct. App. 2003). Statutes should be interpreted such “that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous.” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (internal citation omitted).

When Section 6-29-1150 is read as a whole, the General Assembly’s intent is plain: written notice, or something akin to written notice, is necessary to notify the applicant of either approval or disapproval of a preliminary plan. The statute notes, for example, that a “developer *must be issued a letter* of approval and authorization to proceed based on the plans or plats and supporting documents presented.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(A) (emphasis added). “In addition, the developer *must be notified in writing* of the actions taken.” *Id.* at -1150(B) (emphasis added). It is nonsensical to assume that a developer is entitled to written confirmation of the planning commission’s actions but that, under the same statutory section, the developer’s appeal deadline of that action would begin to run when the action occurred, not when the developer received that written notice. Similarly, in subsection (D), a letter is the triggering mechanism for the time frame to file an appeal. Subsection (D)(1) sets out that the time period to appeal is thirty days, and Section (D)(2) reiterates that a letter must be sent to begin that time period.

Practically, it would be extremely difficult to enforce the trial court’s interpretation that “actual notice” occurs when *any* individual associated with a developer is present at—or even hears second-hand about—a meeting where a vote is taken. Say, for example, that a developer’s

employee attended a meeting but did not identify themselves such that they were named on the official meeting minutes. Would the developer be charged with notice? Would it matter what type of employee was present at the meeting? Where would a lower court draw the line, and what would they use to guide that decision aside from an intuition of what notice felt sufficiently “actual”? Under Greenville County’s Land Development Regulations (“LDR”), developers are directed to appoint an authorized representative who can address any questions from the planning commission. See LDR, Article 3.2.2. Would the Court find notice only when that representative witnessed a vote? Would that notice be imputed to the property owner, too?

Instead of bringing harmony and finality to any decision regarding a preliminary plan application, reading each section individually would create multiple deadlines to appeal based on the contents of the notice of appeal. If accepted, Respondent’s argument that requesting pre-litigation mediation changes the deadline would mean that an appellant could breathe new jurisdiction into an appeal based on the format of the notice. Conceivably, these different deadlines could be months apart depending on when a letter stating the action taken is mailed to the developer and property owner. The chaos caused by such an interpretation could not have been what the General Assembly intended when it drafted this statute.

B. The trial court’s interpretation is contrary to or distinguishable from cases interpreting analogous statutes.

Although our Supreme Court has not yet interpreted Section 6-29-1150(D),¹ its approach to analogous statutes supports AJC-101’s position here. For example, in *Hamm v. South Carolina Public Service Commission*, the Court interpreted the language of the Administrative Procedures

¹ The Court of Appeals has, and its analysis supports AJC-101’s position. See Argument II, *infra* (discussing *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm’n*, 426 S.C. 97, 825 S.E.2d 721 (Ct. App. 2019)).

Act, which states in pertinent part that an aggrieved party must file an appeal “within thirty days after the final decision of the agency.” 287 S.C.180, 181, 336 S.E.2d 470, 471 (1985). The Court held that “the statute must be read to allow a party thirty days after *notice* of a decision to bring an appeal,” and, more specifically, that “a party has thirty days after receiving *written notice* to appeal an agency decision.” *Id.* at 182, 336 S.E.2d at 471 (second emphasis added). Similarly, in *Cox v. County of Florence*, , the Supreme Court interpreted the same statute—the one requiring an appeal to be filed “within thirty days after the final decision of the agency”—and concluded that the petitioners’ appeal to the circuit court was timely because they filed it within 30 days “after *written notice* of a decision,” even though they’d known for *more than four years* that “they had been unsuccessful” in their requests to the county. 337 S.C. 340, 344, 523 S.E.2d 776, 778 (1999) (emphasis in original).

Here, in contrast, the Planning Commission argued (and the trial court took) a different view. Specifically, the Planning Commission’s argument to the circuit court relied heavily on the idea that a different section of Title 6—namely, Section 6-29-900, which governs appeals from a board of architectural review—is the proper analog to Section 6-29-1150. The Planning Commission argues that statute has already been interpreted in *Blind Tiger, LLC v. City of Charleston*, 366 S.C. 182, 621 S.E.2d 361 (Ct. App. 2005), and that *Blind Tiger* was, at the trial court stage, controlling precedent. In *Blind Tiger*, the presence of a party’s representative at the architectural review board meeting was deemed “actual notice” of a decision. *Id.* at 185, 621 S.E.2d at 363.

The problem with the Planning Commission’s argument, however, is that Section 6-29-900 differs from Section 6-29-1150 in an important way. Section 6-29-900 does not *require* any written notice to be sent stating the action taken by the board (though it contemplates that there

may be instances where a decision may be “postmarked”). The General Assembly’s reason for this distinction is that it recognized that, while the decision of a board of architectural review generally affects primarily (and sometimes only) the individual property owner, there are multiple individuals or entities directly involved when a property is proposed to be subdivided including, at least, a developer and a property owner. And each of these individuals or entities could have statutory or constitutionally protected rights regarding the decision to approve or deny a preliminary plan application. As such, in Section 6-29-1150, the General Assembly required clear communication through written notice of the action taken.

II. The trial court’s ruling was contrary to this Court’s precedent.

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