RECEIVED

Jul 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
William C. McMaster, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002385
Case No. 2025-CP-23-3365

AJC 101 Holdings, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Greenville County Planning Commission, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 102
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Counsel for Respondent

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

their meeting on April 23, 2025, the Greenville County Planning Commission denied the above-referenced application.” (R. 74).

As discussed during the hearing before the lower court, the Appellant attempts to rely on an obvious clerical error in Section 2:2 of the Greenville County Zoning Ordinance. (R. 152-153). Section 2:2 outlines the types of matters where the Planning Commission has “Review Authority” and where it has “Decision-Making Authority.” In Section 2:2.2 under the subtitle “Decision-Making Authority,” there is listed “Preliminary Subdivision Plats.” However, in both Sections 2:2.1 and 2:2.2, which delineate the two different “authorities,” the same language is repeated in error: “The Planning Commission acts in a review and recommending capacity on the following matters.” (R. 86). Under “Decision-Making Authority” in Section 2:2.2, it should have stated, absent the obvious clerical error, that the Planning Commission has “final decision-making authority” commensurate with the language used to describe the “decision-making authority” of the Board of Zoning Appeals in Section 2:3.2. (R. 86). In its brief, the Appellant disregards what is plainly a clerical error. The Appellant further proclaims, without any supporting evidence, that “[t]he Planning Commission routinely reviews and recommends approval or denial of preliminary plans and County staff routinely approves or denies those plans based on the Planning Commission’s recommendations.” *See*, Appellant’s Brief, p. 15. There is no evidence to support that assertion, which as noted above, is contrary to the Appellant’s own pleadings in this case. As mentioned above, Section 3.3.5 of the Greenville County Land Development Regulations states that “the Planning Commission may approve, deny, amend or hold the proposed subdivision plan.” (R. 80). Section 3.3.5 does not state that the Planning Commission makes recommendations to the planning staff which makes the final decision. To the contrary, Section 3.3.5 states the converse -- that the Planning Commission makes the

decision based on the recommendations from the Subdivision Advisory Committee (SAC) and the planning staff. (R. 80).

Nonetheless, taking the Appellant's argument to its logical conclusion, if the Planning Commission only made a recommendation, as the Appellant now asserts only to try to salvage its appeal from an untimely filing, that recommendation (as opposed to a final decision) would not even be appealable. Moreover, if that were the case, the Planning Commission would not be the proper party to this appeal. The proper party would have been Greenville County, which is not a party to this appeal either in the lower court or in this Court.¹ Thus, even if the Appellant is correct that the planning staff is the decision-maker (which it is not), then the Appellant brought its appeal *against the wrong party*, and on that basis, the appeal should still be dismissed. But, the reality is that the decision-maker is the Planning Commission, and as the lower court correctly ruled, the Notice of Appeal was filed late. Hence, this appeal was correctly dismissed.

III. The Appellant's untimely reliance on principles of equitable estoppel may not convey appellate jurisdiction on the Circuit Court for what was clearly an untimely appeal under Section 6-29-1150(D)(1).

As an additional issue raised for the first time on appeal, the Appellant argues that the Greenville County Planning Commission (which is wrongly referred to as the "County") is equitably estopped from asserting the untimeliness of the appeal because of the April 30, 2025 letter sent by the Greenville County Subdivision Administrator to the Appellant's engineering firm. In that letter, the Subdivision Administrator wrote: "If desired, an appeal from the

¹ The Appellant inconsistently refers to the "Planning Commission" and the "County" as the Respondent in different places in its brief. Yet, as the caption and the Notice of Appeal and Petition state, the Respondent is the Planning Commission and not Greenville County.

decision of the Planning Commission must be made within thirty (30) days from the date of this letter in accordance with Section 6-29-1155 of South Carolina Code of Laws.” (R. 74). The Appellant’s reliance on equitable estoppel fails for several reasons.

First, the issue of equitable estoppel is raised for the first time on appeal. It was not raised before the lower court either in the memorandum filed prior to the hearing, during the hearing before the Circuit Court, or in the Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion. Thus, the circuit court judge was never given the opportunity to address the application of equitable estoppel. Instead, the issue was raised for the first time on appeal, and as a result, the issue is not preserved. In *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), this Court explained that “[i]ssues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.” 602 S.E.2d at 779-780. “Error preservation requirements are intended 'to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.'" *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App. 2004), *citing I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “It is well settled that an appellate court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to, *and ruled upon by*, the trial court.” *Id.* (Emphasis in original).

Second, it is well settled that “the timeliness of an appeal from a zoning board's decision is a jurisdictional requirement.” *Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Board of Adjustment*, 342 S.C. 480, 536 S.E.2d 892, 896, n.7 (Ct. App. 2000). The same is true for an appeal from a planning commission. As the Supreme Court has explained, “subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived or conferred by agreement of the parties to any action” and similarly, “it cannot be conferred at the direction of a county official.” *In re November 4, 2008 Bluffton Town Council Election*, 385 S.C. 632, 686 S.E.2d 683, 687 (2009). In short, appellate

jurisdiction is not subject to consent, waiver, or estoppel. Indeed, Rule 6(b), SCRCP, provides that “[t]he time for filing notice of intent to appeal is jurisdictional and may not be extended by consent or order.” Rule 6(b), SCRCP.

Third, equitable estoppel does not lie against a governmental entity for mistaken statements of law by a governmental official. As the Supreme Court has held, “administrative officers of the state cannot estop the state through mistaken statements of law.” *Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 692 S.E.2d 499, 506 (2010). Moreover, “estoppel will not lie against a governmental entity where a government employee gives erroneous information in contradiction of statute. Simply stated, equity follows the law.” *Id.* Therefore, even if the information relayed by the Subdivision Administrator was in error (which it was not), the Planning Commission is not estopped from asserting the untimeliness of the Appellant’s appeal to the Circuit Court and the lack of appellate jurisdiction.

Fourth, the information conveyed by the Subdivision Administrator was not incorrect. She wrote: “If desired, an appeal from the decision of the Planning Commission must be made within thirty (30) days from the date of this letter in accordance with Section 6-29-1155 of South Carolina Code of Laws.” (R. 74). Section 6-29-1155 allows for the filing of a notice of appeal with a request for pre-litigation mediation. In that event, the appeal time is governed by Section 6-29-1150(D)(2), which requires that “[a] notice of appeal and request for pre-litigation mediation must be filed within thirty days after the decision of the board is mailed.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(D)(2). Admittedly, the Subdivision Administrator did not further explain that an appeal *without* a request for pre-litigation mediation has a different triggering date for the filing of a notice of appeal. However, that information is clearly available by reference to Section 6-29-1150 and the supporting case law. The Appellant was represented by counsel

experienced in land use matters and has not presented evidence that it was unaware of Section 6-29-1150 and its requirements.

Fifth, as just alluded to, the Appellant has presented no evidence in the lower court to support her untimely assertion of equitable estoppel. “If estoppel is applicable against a government agency, a relying party must prove: (1) lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question, (2) justifiable reliance upon the government’s conduct, and (3) a prejudicial change in position.” *Quail Hill*, 692 S.E.2d at 506. There is no evidence in the record to support any of those elements. Certainly, the Appellant has not shown and quite simply cannot show that it lacked knowledge of the appeal requirements set forth in Section 6-29-1150 or at least the means to learn the appeal requirements. As indicated, the Appellant is represented by counsel well versed in land use matters. There is no evidence from the Appellant nor even argument by counsel during the Circuit Court hearing that it was unaware of the time limits on the filing of a notice of appeal in Section 6-29-1150 or did not have the means of acquiring that knowledge.

For each of the foregoing reasons, the Appellant’s untimely reliance on principles of equitable estoppel may not convey appellate jurisdiction on the Circuit Court for what was clearly an untimely appeal under Section 6-29-1150(D)(1).

IV. The Appellant is without legal basis to seek a reversal of the Planning Commission’s decision on the merits or to seek a remand for “damages for an uncompensated taking,” where the Appellant never pled a takings claim nor sought damages in its Notice of Appeal and Petition.

As its final ground for appeal, the Appellant seeks relief on appeal which is not preserved for appellate review and which was not even sought in the Circuit Court. The Appellant asks this

Court to reverse the Planning Commission's denial of the subdivision application *on its merits* although the lower court never reached the merits and the Appellant never raised the merits in its Rule 59(e) motion. *See, Gleaton v. Orangeburg County*, 440 S.C. 350, 891 S.E.2d 390, 395 (Ct. App. 2023) (observing that “[a] bedrock part of error preservation is that an issue must have been ruled upon in the trial court in order for it to be preserved for appellate review. Without a ruling, there is nothing for us to review”). Even if this Court could review the Planning Commission's decision on the merits, the Appellant has presented no argument as to the merits. The only arguments made pertain to an alleged unconstitutional taking. *See, Appellant's Brief*, pp. 22-23. It is well settled that an issue is deemed abandoned “if it is argued in a short, conclusory statement without supporting authority.” *Fields v. Melrose Limited Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285, n.3 (Ct. App. 1993). *See also, Glasscock, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 557 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2001) (same).

Moreover, the Appellant quite remarkably asks this Court to remand for a determination of “damages for an uncompensated taking.” *See, Appellant's Brief*, p. 22. A review of the Notice of Appeal and Petition shows that the Appellant never asserted any allegations of an unconstitutional taking nor did the Appellant include a claim for damages in its prayer. (R. 11-15). Hence, the request for a remand to determine damages is wholly inappropriate and a huge overreach.

Finally, to the extent that the Court addresses the merits of the Appellant's appeal, the record demonstrates that there was sufficient evidence to support the Planning Commission's decision denying the preliminary subdivision plat for the O'Neal Farms (Phase II) subdivision. The evidence must only satisfy the “any evidence” standard of review. As the minutes as well as the video recording of the April 23, 2025 meeting reflect, the Planning Commission received

testimony and additional information from the Appellant and those opposing the development to support its ultimate decision to deny the preliminary plat.

For starters, the Appellant fully conceded during the meeting that a current Traffic Impact Study had not been submitted. The Traffic Impact Study in the record was dated July 2023, and in bold red letters is described only as a “Draft.” (R. 44). The Appellant’s representative from Gray Engineering conceded during the meeting that the Traffic Impact Study needed to be “updated” and submitted. Thus, the Planning Commission, as one member pointed out in her questions, did not even have complete information with which to evaluate the preliminary plat. LDR Article 9.1 states that a Traffic Impact Study (TIS) “helps identify significant impacts on safety, traffic and transportation operations,” and “[u]ltimately, the TIS can be used to assess if the scale of the development is appropriate for a particular site.” *See*, LDR Article 9.1. The O’Neal Farms (Phase II) development is intended to be built behind the O’Neal Farms (Phase I), and the new development is designed to utilize an existing County road, namely O’Neal Farms Way, for ingress and egress. Based thereon, there were concerns expressed by the citizen participants at the meeting regarding the impact on safety of the additional traffic generated by the sheer scope of the 147 additional homes using O’Neal Farms Way, through an existing subdivision. The Planning Commission was certainly acting within its discretion, based on the admitted failure to submit an updated Traffic Impact Study, to deny the preliminary plat.

Additionally, as the discussion during the meeting reflects, there were also concerns expressed with whether the Appellant fully complied with the “open space” requirements under the LDR Article 11. In fact, LDR 11.3.2 states: “The Planning Commission shall determine the appropriateness of the dimensions of the required open space. The open space on the preliminary plan should have meaningful dimensions, proportions, and placement.” *See*, LDR

11.3.2. (R. 82). On appeal to the Circuit Court, the Appellant pointed to no evidence that such concerns had any basis in the record. In fact, that issue is not even raised in the Notice of Appeal.

In sum, the decision-making by the Planning Commission is subject to a very deferential standard of review. The courts are not permitted to substitute their judgment for that of the Planning Commission. The record demonstrates nonetheless that there was sufficient evidence before the Planning Commission to support its decision to deny the Appellant's preliminary subdivision application and plat as decided at the April 23, 2025 meeting.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion and analysis, the Respondent Greenville County Planning Commission respectfully requests that the Court affirm the orders issued by Circuit Court Judge William C. McMaster, III, dismissing the Appellant's appeal as untimely.